San Jose State University
SJSU ScholarWorks

Master's Theses

Master's Theses and Graduate Research

Spring 2021

The Moderating Effect of Self-efficacy on the Relationship between Telecommuting and Turnover Intentions

Samantha Mei-Li Scoppettone San Jose State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd_theses

Recommended Citation

Scoppettone, Samantha Mei-Li, "The Moderating Effect of Self-efficacy on the Relationship between Telecommuting and Turnover Intentions" (2021). *Master's Theses*. 5188. DOI: https://doi.org/10.31979/etd.tfhc-bqg4 https://scholarworks.sjsu.edu/etd_theses/5188

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Master's Theses and Graduate Research at SJSU ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of SJSU ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact scholarworks@sjsu.edu.

THE MODERATING EFFECT OF SELF-EFFICACY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TELECOMMUTING INTENSITY AND TURNOVER INTENTIONS

A Thesis

Presented to

The Faculty of the Department of Psychology

San José State University

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science

by

Samantha Scoppettone

May 2021

© 2021

Samantha Scoppettone

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

The Designated Thesis Committee Approves the Thesis Titled

THE MODERATING EFFECT OF SELF-EFFICACY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TELECOMMUTING INTENSITY AND TURNOVER INTENTIONS

by

Samantha Scoppettone

APPROVED FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

SAN JOSÉ STATE UNIVERSITY

May 2021

Dr. Megumi HosodaDepartment of PsychologyDr. Howard TokunagaDepartment of PsychologyRenee Pires, M.S.Google; Program Manager

ABSTRACT

THE MODERATING EFFECT OF SELF-EFFICACY ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN TELECOMMUTING INTENSITY AND TURNOVER INTENTIONS

by Samantha Scoppettone

In recent years, telecommuting has become a popular working arrangement. While many studies have examined various outcomes of telecommuting such as turnover intentions, there is limited literature around potential moderators of the relationship of telecommuting and turnover intentions. The present study examined the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions and explored occupational selfefficacy as a potential moderator. It was hypothesized that occupational self-efficacy would moderate the positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, meaning that the relationship would be stronger for those with lower levels of occupational self-efficacy than those with higher levels of occupational self-efficacy. A total of 160 survey responses were analyzed to test this hypothesis. Results showed that occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions. Results also showed that there was no significant relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions but there was a significant negative relationship between occupational self-efficacy and turnover intentions. This suggests that organizations should work on building occupational selfefficacy levels in their employees through trainings to reap the benefits of positive organizational outcomes. Additional research needs to be conducted to determine the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions along with potential moderators that impact this relationship.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my gratitude to my thesis committee who have been there to support me throughout the entire process. Specifically, to Megumi for helping me with countless drafts and providing me with the motivation I needed each week. Thank you so much for your optimism and all the time that you dedicated to helping me. To Howard, thank you for your valuable input on each section, encouragement, and also for teaching me to become more confident in my data skills. I am very grateful to have to have you both as professors throughout this entire program.

To my parents, Matt and Ka-Ling Scoppettone thank you for supporting me throughout my entire academic career and for teaching me that nothing is more important than my education. Thank you for giving me all the opportunities that have made me into the person that I am today, I will always strive to make you proud. To my sister, Renee, thank you for everything you have done for me throughout my whole life words cannot express how much I look up to you and admire you. The relationship that we have has truly helped me keep perspective on what is most important in life. To my brother Ronnie, who always makes me laugh and gave me a wonderful nephew, Donovan who showed me a very special love. To Poa Poa and Gong Gong, who I am very blessed to have always providing me with wisdom and support. To Shay, from the moment you came into my life you have been my biggest fan and constantly challenged me to think bigger and achieve more, you have made me a more confident person. Thank you for being there every day and encouraging me I am very lucky to come home to you and Rocket every day.

v

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	vii
Introduction	1
Telecommuting: Definition and Types	3
Outcomes of Telecommuting	4
Productivity	4
Job attitudes	5
Work-family balance	6
Turnover intentions	7
Moderators of the Relationship between Telecommuting and Turnover Intentions	9
Leadership style	10
Communication-enhancing technology	11
Self-efficacy	13
The Present Study	18
Method	20
Participants	20
Measures	24
Telecommuting intensity	24
Occupational self-efficacy	24
Turnover intentions	25
Demographic information	25
Procedures	26
Results	28
Descriptive Statistics	20
Pearson Correlations	28
Test of Hypothesis	20
Additional Analyses	31
Discussion	35
Summary of Findings	
Theoretical Implications	
Practical Implications	
Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research	
Conclusion	45
References	47
Amondia	50
Appendix	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Demographic Characteristics of Participants
Table 2.	Descriptive Statistics and Pearson Correlations Among Variables28
Table 3.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting Intensity and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions
Table 4.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions
Table 5.	Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting Number of Days and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions

Introduction

Telecommuting is an increasingly common trend in the workplace. Since 2005, the number of people who work from home has grown 173% (Global Workforce Analytics, 2018). The demand for telecommuting among employees is growing rapidly, as 80% of the workforce now states that they have a desire to work from home at least some of the time (Owl Labs, 2019). As a result, an increasing number of employers have been offering telecommuting options in order to attract top talent. Currently, over 5 million employees within the United States work at home at least half of the time (Global Workplace Analytics, 2018).

More recently, telecommuting has become increasingly prevalent due to COVID-19, which has caused over 40% of the American workforce to telecommute (Bloom, 2020). Even after COVID-19, it is predicted that many employees will continue to telecommute as large companies including Facebook, Twitter, Square, Shopify, and Slack have announced plans to continue telecommuting permanently (Cao, 2020). In fact, Global Workplace Analytics (2020) predicts that 25 to 30% of the workforce will be working from home multiple days a week by the end of 2021.

Studies have shown that both employees and companies benefit from telecommuting. For example, telecommuting has been shown to be positively related to job satisfaction and organizational commitment (Casey & Grzywacz, 2008; Tavares, 2017), as well as productivity (Gajedran & Harrison, 2007). Although the relationship between telecommuting and these organizational outcomes have been found to be positive, the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions has been inconsistent. For

example, one study found that those who telecommuted had less work exhaustion and as a result had lower turnover intentions compared to those who did not (Golden, 2006). However, another study showed that employees who telecommuted were no more or less likely to have turnover intentions than those who did not telecommute (Kossek et al., 2006). Additionally, Caillier (2016) found that telecommuting actually increased employees' turnover intentions.

These inconsistent findings regarding the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions might be due to a relative lack of attention to moderator variables. Sardeshmukh et al. (2012) stated that while job-related characteristics such as job autonomy, role ambiguity, and social support have been examined as moderators of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, individual characteristics have not been studied as potential moderators of such relationships. Therefore, this study examined an individual characteristic as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting. Specifically, I argued that self-efficacy acts as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions to try to address the inconsistent relationship that past studies have found.

The sections below offer a definition of telecommuting, review research on the outcomes of telecommuting, and examine the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, and look at moderators that have been studied for the relationship. Additionally, self-efficacy is introduced, along with its hypothesized moderating effect on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Telecommuting: Definition and Types

Allen et al. (2005) defined telecommuting as "a work practice that involves members of an organization substituting a portion of their typical work hours (ranging from a few hours per week to nearly full-time) to work away from a central workplace - typically from home - using technology to interact with others as needed to conduct work tasks" (p. 44). There are two common types of telecommuting: remote work and flexible working arrangements. Remote work is often defined as employees residing and working outside of the local commuting area of their organization's worksite; this term generally encompasses full-time teleworkers who never report into the office (U.S. Office of Personnel Management, 2013). Remote work has been defined in past studies as working away from a supervisor such that there is limited or no in-person supervision but instead there is technology-mediated communication (Barsness et al., 2005; Kurland & Bailey, 1999).

Flexible working arrangements have commonly been defined as formal or informal policies and practices that permit employees to vary when and where their work is carried out (Maxwell et al., 2007). There are two main types of flexible working arrangements: flexplace and flextime (de Menezes & Kelliher, 2011). Flexplace is when employees perform tasks normally done in a central workplace elsewhere (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007). An example of flexplace could be when an employee works on a presentation for work at their home instead of at their worksite office. Flextime is when employees have flexibility in the days and hours they work. An example of flextime is when an employee leaves work at 3PM to pick up their children from school and works in the evening to

complete the rest of their hours. With flextime, there are usually standard hours when the employee must be at the worksite that are agreed upon with their supervisor. The remaining hours of an employee's time can be completed at their home on their own time.

Almost all forms of telecommuting involve using technology to complete work away from the traditional office setting, most frequently within employees' homes. In my study, telecommuters will be defined as those who do not report to a centralized workplace but instead accomplish work tasks by utilizing technology such as laptops, tablets, and phones. Rather than having a dichotomy between telecommuters and nontelecommuters, I will measure the intensity that an individual telecommutes by the number of hours a week spent telecommuting.

Outcomes of Telecommuting

As telecommuting continues to increase in popularity, there have been a large number of studies examining its outcomes. Companies are seeing benefits such as increased productivity and positive job attitudes. However, there are mixed findings regarding the effect of telecommuting on work-family balance and turnover intentions.

Productivity.

Employee productivity is key to organizational success and companies are always looking for ways to maximize it. Several studies have looked at the effects of telecommuting on employee productivity and have found a positive relationship (e.g., McCloskey & Igbaria, 2003; Pinsonneault & Boisvert, 2001). For example, Bloom et al. (2014) found that call center workers who were selected to telecommute over a period of nine and a half months completed 13.5% more calls than call center workers who worked

in the office, equating to almost a day more a week of work. The study found that productivity increased because employees worked more minutes per shift and had a quieter work environment that allowed them to focus.

With increased employee productivity as one of the major known benefits of telecommuting, there have been additional studies that have looked at what causes this increased productivity (Apgar, 1998; Bailey & Kurland, 2002; Tavares, 2017). One proposed reason is that telecommuting employees can choose their work environment, usually in their homes, which means they have fewer interruptions and distractions compared to those who work in the office (Bailey & Kurland, 2002). Telecommuters also work longer hours since they save time not commuting to the office (Apgar, 1998). Another reason for increased productivity is that telecommuting employees have flexibility when planning their work schedules, hence they can choose to work during the times they are most productive (Tavares, 2017). For example, someone who is most productive in the morning can log on as soon as they wake up and utilize mornings to get a majority of their work done.

Job Attitudes.

The most frequently examined job attitudes as outcomes of telecommuting are job satisfaction and organizational commitment. Job satisfaction is defined as "a pleasurable or positive emotional state resulting from the appraisal of one's job or job experiences" (Locke, 1976, p. 1304). A meta-analysis of 46 studies showed that employees who telecommute had higher levels of job satisfaction compared to non-telecommuting employees (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007). Telecommuters reported decreased stress

levels which allowed them to meet family-related responsibilities, thus contributing to increased job satisfaction (Guimaraes & Dallow, 1999; Riley & McClosky, 1997). That is, employees who are less stressed with their jobs are less likely to experience burnout and ultimately have a more positive outlook about their job. Additionally, employees who are able to fulfill their family demands without work interfering are more likely to appreciate their jobs (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007).

Telecommuting has also been shown to be positively related to an employee's organizational commitment, which has been defined as "the relative strength of an individual's involvement in a particular organization" (Mowday et al., 1979, p. 226). Organizational commitment is based on three factors: the acceptance of the organization's goals and values, the willingness to invest effort on behalf of the organization, and the importance attached to keeping up membership in the organization (Bogler & Somech, 2004). A meta-analysis of 32 studies found that telecommuting increased employee's feelings of organizational commitment, such that the more an employee telecommuted, the higher the level of organizational commitment they felt to the organization (Martin & MacDonnell, 2012).

Work Family Balance.

Telecommuting has gained attention as a way to increase work-family balance for employees by allowing them to have flexible working arrangements. While there are many studies that have looked at the relationship between telecommuting and workfamily balance, very few have actually defined the concept of work-family balance. However, a common understanding of work-family balance among researchers is that it

consists of an equal amount of time, psychological involvement, and satisfaction with family and work roles (Greenhaus et al., 2003).

While flexible working arrangements have been touted by companies as increasing work-family balance, studies have shown conflicting results on whether this is actually the case. Flexible working hours seem to increase work-family balance as employees can schedule working hours around family demands (Shagvaliyeva & Yazdanifard, 2014). However, because a flexible working place is usually the employee's home, this increases the number of hours worked such that those who telecommute work more hours than those who do not (Madden & Jones, 2008). This expansion of work hours might cause feelings of intensified work demands among telecommuters that reduce feelings of a healthy work-family balance (Noonan & Glass, 2012).

Turnover intentions.

There are many studies that have examined the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, in part because turnover intentions are the strongest predictor of actual turnover (Lambert et al., 2012). Turnover intentions are defined as the conscious and deliberate willfulness to leave the organization (Tett & Meyer, 1993). There have been inconsistent findings regarding the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. For example, Gajendran and Harrison (2007) conceptualized telecommuting as work that occurs outside the central workplace, typically the employee's home. They studied employees who worked away from the office one day or more per week and found a negative relationship between telecommuting and turnover

intentions. These findings suggested that employees who telecommute more were less likely to have turnover intentions compared to employees who did not telecommute.

Another study also found telecommuting was negatively associated with turnover intentions (Golden, 2006). Similar to Gajendran and Harrison (2007), Golden measured telecommuting on a continuum such that participants were asked what percentage of the work week they spent telecommuting. Results showed that the more employees telecommuted, the less likely they were to have turnover intentions. Results also showed that work exhaustion mediated the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. Work exhaustion was conceptualized as the expenditure of both mental and emotional energy that is needed to meet job demands. According to Golden, telecommuting alters both the location and nature of the work conditions and eliminates employee commutes, which is likely to reduce organizational conditions that cause work exhaustion, including freedom from interruptions, which leads to lower turnover intentions.

However, telecommuters may not always experience lower levels of turnover intentions. For example, although Kossek et al. (2006) predicted there would be a negative relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, they found no relationship. They suggested that formal utilization of telecommuting might only lead to more positive outcomes for specific groups. For example, in their study only women with children who telecommuted had lower rates of depression and turnover intentions, whereas the rest of the sample did not.

Caillier (2016) even found a positive relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions among U.S. federal agency employees, suggesting that telecommuters were more likely to have turnover intentions than non-telecommuters. According to Caillier, the increased turnover intentions among employees who telecommuted could be attributed to a lack of separation between work and family roles, such that home responsibilities made it more difficult for telecommuters to complete their work-related tasks, and vice-versa. They also attributed higher turnover intentions amongst telecommuters to increased isolation between telecommuters and their coworkers as well as the organization. It is worth noting that this study measured telecommuting on a continuum, such that employees were asked to specify how frequently they telecommuted.

The literature examining the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions has inconsistent findings in that no relationship, a positive relationship and a negative relationship have all been reported. The relative lack of consistent findings between telecommuting and turnover intentions might suggest the presence of a moderator. The section below reviews studies that examined moderators of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Moderators of the Relationship Between Telecommuting and Turnover Intentions

In order to better understand what might affect the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, past studies have looked at moderators of this relationship. Examining moderators of the relationship between telecommuting and

turnover intentions allows for a more holistic view of variables that contribute to this relationship.

Leadership style.

Leadership style has been examined as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. For example, one study looked at how transactional, transformational, and laissez-faire leadership styles affected telecommuters' intent to leave an organization (Overbey, 2013). Overbey (2013) defined transactional leadership style as focusing on the exchanges between a leader and the follower such that workers are expected to achieve goals defined by the leader while in return the workers receive compensation, bonuses and recognition for reaching these goals. Transformational leadership style is seen as focusing a group on achieving a common goal or vision through inspirational motivation and leading by example to achieve progress (Gumusluoglu & Ilsev, 2007). Laissez-faire leadership style emphasizes that the leader be passive and let workers have sole responsibility for the decisions they make about their work (Eagly et al., 2003).

Overbey (2013) found that transformational leadership increased turnover intentions, transactional leadership did not significantly affect turnover intentions, and laissez-faire leadership decreased the relationship between telecommuters and turnover intentions. This means that leaders who are less involved with the supervision of subordinates are more likely to have telecommuters with reduced turnover intentions. Overall, leadership style acted as a moderator such the more transformational leadership style a supervisor had the stronger the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions while

the more a supervisor displayed laissez-faire leadership style the weaker the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Communication-enhancing technology.

Another moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intention is communication-enhancing technology. Communication-enhancing technology includes access to high-speed internet, audio conferencing, a dedicated telephone line for work, and video conferencing with whiteboard enabled collaborative software (Golden et al., 2008). One of the biggest concerns among high frequency telecommuters is professional isolation, defined as a feeling that one is out of touch with their coworkers (Diekema, 1992).

Since those with high telecommuting frequency are more often likely to feel professionally isolated than those who work in the office, Golden et al. (2008) conducted a study on telecommuters who felt professionally isolated to examine the moderating effect of communication-enhancing technology on turnover intentions. The authors hypothesized that communication-enhancing technology would moderate the relationship between professional isolation and turnover intentions such that the more access a telecommuter had to communication-enhancing technology they would have reduced feelings of professional isolation and as a result lower levels of turnover intentions. They argued that communication-enhancing technology would reduce feelings of professional isolation because it allows for virtual face-to-face interaction with colleagues.

Access to communication-enhancing technology was found to be a significant moderator, but contrary to the researchers' hypothesis, telecommuters who felt more

professionally isolated were less likely to have turnover intentions. Since communication-enhancing technology lessens telecommuters' feelings of professional isolation, telecommuters who had more access to communication-enhancing technology in the study had significantly higher turnover intentions, while telecommuters who had less access to communication-enhancing technology had significantly lower levels of turnover intentions. The authors explained that this might be because higher feelings of professional isolation due to a lack of communication-enhancing technology may reduce employee's faith in their skills and their ability to successfully find alternative employment.

While there have been a few moderators that have looked at the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, individual characteristics have not yet been studied as moderators (Sardeshmukh et al., 2012). While job-related characteristics and situational characteristics have been shown to moderate the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions, it is likely that individual characteristics also have a moderating effect. Individuals' intentions are largely influenced by their individual characteristics (Forrester et al., 2016). While two people can have identical jobs, they may have varying thoughts and feelings about the job due to their individual characteristic that acts as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. The section below defines self-efficacy, the effect self-efficacy has on telecommuters, and its predicted effect on the telecommuting and turnover intentions relationship.

Self-efficacy

Lunenburg (2011) defines self-efficacy as a person's belief that he or she is capable of performing a specific task correctly. Lunenburg also highlights that self-efficacy is developed from four main sources. Past performance is one of the sources as employees who have succeeded on job tasks in the past have more confidence to complete similar tasks in the future compared to those who have been unsuccessful. The second source of self-efficacy is vicarious experience; in the workplace, watching a coworker succeed at a particular task increases an employee's belief they can perform the same task. Vicarious experience is most effective when people see themselves as similar to the person they are modeling.

Verbal persuasion is the third source of self-efficacy. Successful leaders in workplaces utilize the Pygmalion effect, which is using verbal persuasion in the form of a self-fulfilling prophecy such that believing something is true can make it true. This verbal persuasion helps convince people they have the ability to succeed at a task. The final source of self-efficacy is emotional state. For example, before engaging in a task, employees may experience low self-confidence, feel anxiety, and become stressed about whether they can perform the task, which can in turn cause poor performance. In contrast, those who do not have these feelings of stress and anxiety may approach the task feeling more confident in their abilities. These four sources of self-efficacy contribute to employees' confidence levels in themselves at work and greatly affect what they can accomplish as well as their perceptions of how successful they will be at completing tasks.

The self-efficacy theory's basic underlying premise is that expectations of personal mastery, efficacy, and success, which are all considered outcome expectations, determine whether an individual will engage in a particular behavior (Bandura, 1995). An efficacy expectation concerns the amount of confidence an individual has in their ability to produce the behavior. An outcome expectation is a person's belief about the outcomes of a behavior that can involve physical, social, and self-evaluative effects (Bijl & Shortridge-Baggett, 2002). In the workplace, self-efficacy affects an employee's level of persistence on difficult tasks, the tasks they engage in, and the goals they set for themselves (Lunenburg, 2011). Self-efficacy theory highlights that self-efficacy is not a personality trait but a characteristic that is situation-and task-related. Hence, this study focuses on self-efficacy related to job tasks, which is called occupational self-efficacy. Someone with high self-efficacy in the workplace believes they can perform their job duties well and views more challenging tasks as something they can accomplish and master. In contrast, someone with low occupational self-efficacy believes work tasks are harder than they actually are, which causes them to feel more stress and results in poorer planning to accomplish these tasks.

Many studies have looked at the relationship between self-efficacy and job performance. Studies have found a positive relationship between them, such that the greater amount of self-efficacy employees have, the higher their levels job performance (Carter et al., 2016; Judge & Bono, 2001). Due to the well-established relationship between self-efficacy and job performance, one study looked at whether job-crafting helps explain this relationship (Tims et al., 2013). The researchers found that job crafting

behaviors, which were defined as individuals' initiative to change or modify aspects of their job to fit with their own characteristics, partially explained the relationship between self-efficacy and job performance. These results indicate that self-efficacious employees are more likely to engage in job crafting, which then leads to better performance. Results also showed that on the days employees felt the most self-efficacious, they engaged in the most job crafting behaviors.

Job crafting is likely even more important for employees who telecommute, as telecommuters have more direct control over their working environment and therefore, have a greater ability to job craft. When telecommuters craft their jobs, they change their work tasks and interactions with others, and as a result change their work environment more dramatically compared to non-telecommuters, who have relatively little control over their office environment. Tims et al. (2013) found that individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy engaged in more job crafting behaviors and individuals who had the most job crafting behaviors had higher levels of job performance. This highlights that those telecommuters with high levels of self-efficacy benefit the most from job crafting by experiencing positive outcomes.

While there have been a large number of studies examining the importance of selfefficacy, there have not been many studies that have looked at how self-efficacy impacts telecommuters. One of the few studies that examined this relationship found that selfefficacy was positively related to telecommuter adjustment. Individuals who had higher levels of telecommuter adjustment in turn had higher levels of work performance (Raghuram et al., 2003). Telecommuter adjustment was defined as an employee's ability

to cope with their work environment and perform well. The results of this study also showed that telecommuting frequency acted as a moderator such that the more frequently an individual telecommuted, the stronger the positive relationship between self-efficacy and telecommuter adjustment. The resources received by employees who telecommute, such as communication-enhancing technology and support from their managers, play a role in both telecommuter adjustment and organizational outcomes.

One study showed that self-efficacy played a moderating role on the relationship between emotional dissonance and counterproductive work behaviors (Cretu & Burcas, 2013). Emotional dissonance was defined as feelings of emotional uneasiness occurring when there is a discrepancy between required and felt emotions. For example, if a customer service representative feels disrespected by a customer's comments but has to act happy and concerned, this would be an example of emotional dissonance because the customer service representative's feeling of disrespect is not aligned with their required emotions of acting happy and concerned while working. Employees who have frequent feelings of emotional dissonance have been shown to have higher counterproductive work behaviors. The findings from Cretu and Burcas (2013) showed that self-efficacy moderated the relationship between emotional dissonance and counterproductive work behaviors, such that the higher level of self-efficacy an individual had, the less likely the individual would be to engage in counterproductive work behaviors when they had feelings of emotional dissonance. Self-efficacy in this study may have acted as a moderator because even with the uncomfortable feelings that come with emotional dissonance, employees with high levels of self-efficacy were confident in their abilities

on the job and did not feel threatened. However, employees with lower levels of selfefficacy felt threatened and experienced emotional dissonance and as a result felt the need to engage in counterproductive work behaviors.

Shardeshmukh et al. (2012) stated that currently there is a gap in the literature such that while job-related factors have been studied as mediators and moderators of the relationship between teleworking and organizational outcomes, individual variables such as self-efficacy have not. Based on self-efficacy theory, individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy are more likely to persist and succeed when they confront challenges (Bandura, 1995). This suggests that those with higher levels of self-efficacy are more likely to adapt to telecommuting and as a result feel less likely to have turnover intentions.

Individuals with higher self-efficacy have already been shown to adapt to telecommuting more easily and this easier adjustment affected both levels of work enjoyment and work performance (Raghuram et al., 2003). Based on Cretu and Burcas (2013), self-efficacy can give employees the security to continue persisting at their job without having to engage in negative work behaviors. Ultimately, higher levels of selfefficacy will allow telecommuters to persist when faced with adversity, keep their motivation level high, and have the confidence to persist when faced with challenging job tasks.

With telecommuting increasing in popularity, there are unique challenges telecommuters face, including the inability to quickly and succinctly communicate with coworkers and develop an end-to-end plan for projects and tasks. For example, when

faced with less interaction with teammates for help on work tasks, individuals with lower levels of self-efficacy may become more discouraged about their ability to succeed in their job compared to an individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy, who are likely to attempt to solve the task on their own more persistently. Self-efficacy may affect how telecommuters respond to challenges they will face on the job. This is why I hypothesize that workers with higher self-efficacy to be more successful while in an isolated environment.

Hypothesis: Occupational self-efficacy will moderate the positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, such that the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions will be more positive when telecommuters have low occupational self-efficacy than when they have high occupational self-efficacy.

The Present Study

With the increasing number of employees who are telecommuting, it is important to examine the impact it has on these employees. Telecommuting has been linked to many important organizational outcomes, including turnover intentions. However, to date the findings regarding the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions are inconsistent as studies have found a positive, negative or no relationship between them. This may be in part due to a lack of attention given to moderator variables. As Shardeshmukh et al. (2012) stated, job-related factors rather than individual characteristics have been looked at as moderators of this relationship and it is important to look at individual characteristics to better understand the relationship between

telecommuting and turnover intentions. This study seeks to bridge that gap by examining the effects that occupational self-efficacy has on this relationship.

Method

Participants

Participants were obtained through my personal and professional networks, including Facebook, LinkedIn, and Instagram. In order to be included in the study, participants had to be 18 years or older and currently employed. Unemployed individuals were excluded from the study because they would not be able to respond to any of the questions regarding occupational self-efficacy, telecommuting intensity, or turnover intentions. Participants who had a significant number of missing responses were also excluded from analyses. The final sample consisted of 160 participants.

The demographic information of the participants is presented in Table 1. A majority of the sample was female (72.5%). Participants' ages ranged widely with 25 to 34 years old (30.0%), 18-24 (20%), 45-54 (17.5%) and 55-64 (17.5%). Most of the participants were employed full-time (76.3%). The tenure of the participants ranged from less than one year to more than 20 years with 52.5% of participants reporting they had worked in their current job for two years or less. The majority of participants identified as White (53.1%), followed by Asian/Pacific Islander (25.6%), Hispanic or Latino (11.3%), and two or more races (6.9%).

When asked whether participants telecommuted or not, 69.4% reported that they telecommuted at least part-time. The number of days participants telecommuted per week ranged from 0 to 7; the most frequent number of days participants telecommuted was five (42.5%) followed by zero (30.6%). Among those who telecommuted, the most frequent telecommuting location was participants' home office (100%). The second most common

location participants telecommuted from was on the road including trains, buses and cars (9.1%), followed by shops (3.6%) and satellite office (3.6%). It should be noted that some participants reported multiple locations.

Table 1

Variable	n	%
Gender		
Female	116	72.5%
Male	44	27.5%
Age		
18-24	32	20.0%
25-34	48	30.0%
35-44	22	13.8%
45-54	28	17.5%
55-64	28	17.5%
65 years or older	2	1.3%
Employment status		
Full-time	122	76.3%
Part-time	38	23.8%
Tenure		
Less than 1 year	37	23.1%
1-2 years	47	29.4%
3-5 years	25	15.6%
6-10 years	14	8.8%
11-15 years	15	9.4%
15-20 years	4	2.5%
20+ years	18	11.3%
Ethnicity		
White	85	53.1%
Hispanic or Latino	18	11.3%
Black or African American	4	2.5%
Asian/Pacific Islander	41	25.6%
Two or more races	11	6.9%
Other	1	.6%

Demographic Characteristics of Participants

Variable	n	%
Telecommute		
Yes	111	69.4%
No	49	30.6%
Days a week telecommuting		
0	49	30.6%
1	11	6.9%
2	9	5.6%
3	8	5.0%
4	9	5.6%
5	68	42.5%
6	1	.6%
7	5	3.2%
Telecommuting Locations		
Home office	111	100.0%
Satellite Office	4	3.6%
Parks	1	.9%
Libraries	1	.9%
Hotels	1	.9%
On the road (trains, car, bus, etc.)	10	9.1%
Shops (coffee shops, books, restaurants, etc.)	4	3.6%
Other	3	2.7%

Note: Percentages for telecommuting locations were calculated based on the total number of participants who indicated they telecommuted (N = 111)

Measures

Telecommuting Intensity. Telecommuting intensity was operationalized as the percentage of time participant telecommuted for their job. A total of two items were asked to calculate telecommuting intensity. Participants were asked to indicate the total number of hours a week worked and the total number of hours a week spent telecommuting. Then a percentage was calculated by dividing the total number of hours a week telecommuting by the total number of hours a week a participant worked then multiplying by 100. This percentage indicates the percentage of time participants spent telecommuting. For example, if a person worked 32 hours a week and telecommuted for 16 of those hours, they would have a telecommuting intensity percentage of 50%. The larger the percentage, the more time participants spent telecommuting.

Occupational Self-efficacy. Occupational self-efficacy, defined as the degree of competence a person feels concerning the ability to successfully fulfill the tasks involved with their job, was measured with Rigotti et al.'s (2008) Occupational Self-Efficacy scale. All six items from the scale were utilized in the survey. Example items included "I can remain calm when facing difficulties in my job because I can rely on my abilities," "When I am confronted with a problem in my job, I can usually find several solutions," and "My past experiences in my job have prepared me well for my occupational future." Responses were measured on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Strongly disagree*) to 7 (*Strongly agree*). Responses were averaged to create an overall occupational self-efficacy. Cronbach's alpha was .80 indicating high reliability.

Turnover Intentions. Turnover intentions were defined as the conscious and deliberate willfulness to leave the organization and were measured with Bothma and Roodt's (2013) Turnover Intentions scale (TIS-6). This scale contains six items. An example item was "How likely are you to accept another job at the same compensation level should it be offered to you," which is measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Very unlikely*) to 5 (*Very likely*). Another example item, "How satisfying is your job in fulfilling your personal needs," was measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Very dissatisfying*) to 5 (*Very satisfying*). The remaining 4 items were measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Very dissatisfying*) to 5 (*Very satisfying*). The remaining 4 items were measured on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (*Never*) to 5 (*Always*) and included items such as "How often are you frustrated when not given the opportunity at work to achieve your personal work-related goals." Responses were averaged to create an overall score of turnover intentions. Higher scores indicate more likelihood of turnover intentions. A Cronbach's alpha was .78, which indicates a high level of reliability.

Demographic Information. Participants responded to five items regarding their demographic information. The items included employment status, job tenure, age, gender, and ethnicity.

Two additional items were related to telecommuting; however, they were not utilized in the calculation of telecommuting intensity. The first item asked participants how many days a week they telecommuted. This was to gain more insight into the intensity that participants telecommuted, but, this was not factored into the telecommuting percentage calculation. The second item asked telecommuting participants to select which places

they telecommuted from on a regular basis. This was to gain a contextual understanding of where participants most frequently telecommuted from.

Procedures

The online survey was administered through Qualtrics. Participants were invited to participate in the study through three social media platforms (Facebook, LinkedIn, and Instagram) as well as through email. The emails and social media posts gave a brief background on the research study, informed participants that participation was voluntary and anonymous, the estimated duration of time to complete the survey, and included an anonymous link to the survey.

Participants who clicked the link to participate in the study were directed to the consent notice. The consent notice also gave information regarding the purpose of the study, potential risks and benefits, confidentiality, and participants' rights to withdraw at any time, appropriate contact information if the participant had any questions or concerns. It also informed participants that no incentives were being provided for completing the survey.

Once participants clicked "I agree to participate in the research study," they were directed to the survey, which contained a total of 20 items regarding telecommuting, occupational self-efficacy, turnover intentions, and demographic information. Once a participant started the survey, they could start and stop whenever they wanted or end the survey at any time. After participants had completed the survey, they were thanked for their time and debriefed about the purpose of the study.

If participants clicked "I do not agree to participate in the research study," they were directed to close the window so that they could exit the survey. All responses were logged anonymously into Qualtrics. After data collection was complete, the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS Version 25) was used for statistical analysis.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Table 2 displays the means and standard deviations for the measured variables. Telecommuting intensity ranged from 0% to 100%, with the mean of 57.29 (SD = 43.38). This shows that the sample had a mixture of participants who did not telecommute at all as well as participants who telecommuted full-time.

Participants reported that they had relatively low turnover intentions for their current job (M= 2.49, SD = .63); this means that overall participants did not frequently think about leaving their organization. Participants reported moderately high levels of occupational self-efficacy (M = 5.65, SD = 1.05), indicating they felt relatively confident that they were capable of performing their work tasks.

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics and Pearson Correlations Among Variables

	M	SD	1	2	3
1.Telecommuting intensity	57.29	43.38			
2. Turnover intentions	2.49	.63	07		
3. Occupational	5.65	1.05	02	33**	

Note: Reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) are in parentheses along the diagonal. ** p < .01, N = 160

Pearson Correlations

Pearson correlations were calculated in order to measure the extent to which the variables were related to each other. The Pearson correlations are presented in Table 2.

Telecommuting intensity did not have a significant relationship with turnover intentions r(158) = -.07, p > .05, indicating that the percentage of telecommuting had no relation to one's intentions to leave his or her job. Telecommuting intensity also did not have a significant relationship with occupational self-efficacy r(158) = -.02, p > .05. This means that regardless of the percentage of telecommuting, it was not related to beliefs in one's abilities to have successful work performance.

The only significant correlation was found between turnover intentions and occupational self-efficacy r(158) = -.33, p < .01. This indicates that participants with lower levels of occupational self-efficacy were more likely to have higher turnover intentions compared to those with higher levels of occupational self-efficacy.

Test of the Hypothesis

The study's hypothesis stated that the positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions would be moderated by occupational self-efficacy, such that the positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions would be stronger when occupational self-efficacy is low than when it is high. To test this hypothesis, a hierarchical multiple regression (MRC) analysis was conducted, using three steps.

Telecommuting intensity was entered into the first step to see if it had a significant relationship with turnover intentions. In the second step, the moderating variable of occupational self-efficacy was entered. In the third step, the cross-product of telecommuting intensity and occupational self-efficacy was entered to test for a moderating effect. The results of this analysis are displayed in Table 3.

Table 3

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting Intensity and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions

	Predictor	R^2	ΔR^2	β
Step 1	Telecommuting intensity	.004	.004	07
Step 2	Occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.11***	33***
Step 3	Telecommuting intensity x occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.00	.43

Note: N = 160, *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

The first step of the analysis showed that telecommuting intensity did not significantly account for any of the variance in turnover intentions, $R^2 = .004$, R^2 adj = .004, F(1, 158) = .66, p > .05. This means that telecommuting intensity did not significantly contribute to the prediction of participants' turnover intentions.

In the second step, occupational self-efficacy was shown to account for an additional 11% of the variance in turnover intentions above and beyond the effect of telecommuting intensity $\Delta R^2 = .11, F(1, 157) = 19.82, p < .001$. This result means that occupational self-efficacy contributed to predict turnover intentions above and beyond telecommuting intensity.

Results of the third step showed that the added effect of the interaction between telecommuting intensity and occupational self-efficacy was not significant. The interaction effect explained no additional variance in turnover intentions above and beyond the effects of telecommuting intensity and occupational self-efficacy $\Delta R^2 = .00$, F(1, 156) = 1.00, p > .05. These results did not show support for the hypothesis that selfefficacy would moderate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions. Overall, the results did not show support for the hypothesis but showed that occupational self-efficacy significantly predicted turnover intentions.

Additional Analyses

Because occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, another hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted using telecommuting as a predictor variable. In this analysis, participants were divided into those who telecommuted to any extent and those who never telecommuted. Those who telecommuted to any extent made up 69.4% of the sample and those who did not telecommute at all made up 30.6% of the sample.

Telecommuting was entered into the first step to see if it had a significant relationship with turnover intentions. In the second step, the moderating variable of occupational selfefficacy was entered. In the third step of the analysis, the cross product of telecommuting and occupational self-efficacy was entered so that the moderating effect of occupational self-efficacy on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions could be assessed. The results are presented in Table 4.

Table 4

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions

	Predictor	R^2	ΔR^2	β
Step 1	Telecommuting	.01	.01	08
Step 2	Occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.11***	33***
Step 3	Telecommuting x occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.00	.25

Note: N = 160, *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

The results in the first step of the analysis showed that telecommuting did not account significantly for the variance in turnover intentions $R^2 = .01, R^2$ adj = .01, F(1, 158) = 1.06, p > .05. This means that telecommuting or not telecommuting did not significantly contribute to the prediction of participants' turnover intentions.

In the second step of the analysis, occupational self-efficacy accounted for an additional 11% of the variance in turnover intentions above and beyond the effect of telecommuting $\Delta R^2 = .11$, F(1, 157) = 10.30, p < .001. This indicates that occupational self-efficacy predicted turnover intentions even after telecommuting had already been accounted for.

The third step of the analysis did not show a significant interaction between telecommuting and occupational self-efficacy, $\Delta R^2 = .00$, F(1, 156) = 6.93, p > .05. This means that the interaction effect did not significantly account for any additional variance beyond the direct effects of telecommuting and self-efficacy Overall, occupational selfefficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Another hierarchical multiple regression analysis was conducted using the number of days spent telecommuting as a predictor variable. This analysis was conducted because I wanted to determine if days spent telecommuting had a significant impact on turnover intentions, since telecommuting intensity did not. The number of days participants telecommuted was entered into the first step to determine if it had a significant relationship with turnover intentions. In the second step, the moderating variable of occupational self-efficacy was entered. In the third step, the cross-product of the number of days spent telecommuting and occupational self-efficacy on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. The results are displayed in Table 5.

Table 5

Hierarchical Multiple Regression Analysis for Telecommuting Number of Days and Occupational Self-Efficacy Predicting Turnover Intentions

	Predictor	R^2	ΔR^2	β
Step 1	Days telecommuting	.003	.003	05
Step 2	Occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.11***	34***
Step 3	Days telecommuting x occupational self-efficacy	.12***	.00	.24

Note: N = 160, *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001

The results in the first step of the analysis showed that the number of days participants telecommuted did not significantly account for the variance in turnover intentions, $R^2 = .003$, R^2 adj = .003, F(1, 158) = .40, p > .05. This means that number of days spent telecommuting per week did not significantly contribute to the prediction of participants' turnover intentions.

Results from the second step of the analysis showed that an additional 11% of the variance was accounted for by occupational self-efficacy after number of days a week participants telecommuted was taken into account, $\Delta R^2 = .11$, F(1, 157) = 20.58, p < .001. This means that self-efficacy predicted turnover intentions after days a week spent telecommuting was accounted for.

In the third step of the multiple regression analysis, the results showed that the interaction between number of days a week participants telecommuted and occupational self-efficacy did not significantly account for any additional variance in turnover intentions above and beyond the direct effects of number of days a week telecommuting and occupational self-efficacy, $\Delta R^2 = .00$, F(1, 156) = .33, p > .05. The results showed that only occupational self-efficacy significantly predicted turnover intentions. These results showed that occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between the number of days telecommuted and turnover intentions. Overall, results of the two additional analyses showed that occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting and the number of days a week telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Discussion

Telecommuting is an increasing common trend in the workplace. With COVID-19, telecommuting has become even more prevalent. Although the potential consequences of telecommuting such as role stress, performance, and job satisfaction have been studied, the literature regarding the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions is inconsistent. Some studies found a negative relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions (Gajendran & Harrison, 2007; Golden, 2006), whereas another study found a positive relationship between them (Caillier, 2016). Still, another study found no relationship between them (Kossek et al., 2006).

Past research has examined job-related characteristics as moderators of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. I proposed that a personal characteristic, more specifically occupational self-efficacy, might act as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. Furthermore, this study conceptualized telecommuting as telecommuting intensity because I wanted to see if amount of time spent telecommuting impacted turnover intentions. Therefore, the major purpose of this study was to examine if occupational self-efficacy would moderate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions.

Summary of Findings

The hypothesis stated that occupational self-efficacy would moderate the predicted positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, such that the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions would be more positive when telecommuters have lower levels of occupational self-efficacy compared to

when they have higher levels of occupational self-efficacy. The hypothesis was not supported as there was no significant interaction between telecommuting intensity and occupational self-efficacy on turnover intentions.

Because occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, I conducted additional analyses to examine if occupational self-efficacy moderated the relationship between telecommuting (yes vs. no) and turnover intentions and the relationship between the number of days telecommuted a week and turnover intentions. Regardless of how telecommuting was operationalized, the results of the present study showed that occupational self-efficacy did not moderate the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Results also showed that telecommuting was not related to turnover intentions. These results indicate that telecommuting, when measured in terms of percentage of telecommuting, the use of telecommuting, and the number of days a week telecommuted did not predict ones' turnover intentions. However, occupational self-efficacy was negatively related to turnover intentions. The results suggest that those with higher occupational self-efficacy were less likely to leave their organizations.

The lack of support for the hypothesis suggests that telecommuting availability at work may not be a prominent factor in employees' decision to leave an organization. Furthermore, for employees who telecommute, their occupational self-efficacy levels are no more important than they are for employees who do not telecommute, since occupational self-efficacy was found to be negatively related to turnover intentions, regardless of telecommuting intensity.

Lack of statistically significant findings on the moderating effect of occupational selfefficacy may be because data were collected during the COVID-19 pandemic. The high rates of layoffs in the country might have impacted employees' turnover intentions at this time (Guina, 2020). The pandemic created many uncertainties such as when to be back to the office or the future of the economy. Job uncertainty might have been one of them as many employees feared they might lose their jobs because of the uncertainty of the economy (Ruffolo et al., 2021). As a result, telecommuting intensity may not have affected employees' intentions to leave their organization during this time nor occupational self-efficacy might have moderated such a relationship.

Theoretical Implications

The finding that telecommuting intensity did not have a significant relationship with turnover intentions is consistent with that of Kossek et al. (2006) who found that telecommuting did not significantly impact employees' turnover intentions. According to Kossek et al. (2006), telecommuting only affected the turnover intentions of groups such as women with children, and they speculated that this was because flexibility is a top priority in working mothers' working arrangements, whereas in other populations it may not be as much of a priority. In the current study, turnover intentions may not have been significantly affected by telecommuting arrangements because in the midst of the pandemic, many participants might have taken a wait-and-see attitude regarding any job changes, and for the short-term did not intend to turnover until after the pandemic.

However, the findings of the present study are not consistent with both Gajendran and Harrison (2007) and Golden (2006), who found telecommuting was negatively associated

with turnover intentions, suggesting that employees who telecommute are less likely to leave their organization compared to employees who do not telecommute. The findings in the present study may differ from those of Gajendran and Harrison (2007) because in their study, perceived autonomy was found to mediate the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. They discussed that telecommuting increased perceived autonomy where telecommuters were able to control their work arrangements, which in turn, reduced turnover intentions.

Because this study took place during COVID-19, many participants who telecommuted did so out of necessity rather than choice and as a result may not have felt the same levels of autonomy as participants in Gajendran and Harrison's (2007) study. This might have been due to a variety of factors such as online schooling and spouses also working from home at the same time. Participants, especially those with children, may have felt less autonomy than those who were going into work. As a result of reduced autonomy, it was likely not a mediator in this study like it was in the Gajendran and Harrison study, thus contributing to the lack of a significant relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. However, because I did not measure perceived autonomy in the present study, this interpretation is speculative.

The findings of this study also conflict with Golden's (2006) finding that telecommuting was negatively associated with turnover intentions. Golden found that work exhaustion fully mediated the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. The researcher argued that those who telecommuted had reduced work exhaustion because the altered work context allowed them for emotional and mental

intensity of interactions to be controlled more by them and also that, because telecommuters did not have to commute to their office and had more flexibility in their schedule, telecommuting reduced their work exhaustion. Because telecommuters were less likely to experience work exhaustion, this led to lower turnover intentions.

However, the present study took place when a large percentage of the workforce was working from home due to the pandemic. Since working from home is the new normal for over 40% of Americans, some of the benefits previously associated with telecommuting, like reduced work exhaustion, may no longer be the case (Bloom, 2020). Now that many employees are telecommuting full-time, they actually report working longer hours than they did when in the office, and working longer hours has been positively associated with increased work exhaustion (Parker et al., 2020; Reynolds, 2020).

Additionally, in the Golden study telecommuters reported less work exhaustion due to their ability to control the emotional and mental intensity of their day-to-day interactions. However, during COVID-19, workers have reported spending significantly more time in meetings (Kost, 2020). An increase in meetings per day has caused increased work exhaustion in many employees (Beheshti, 2020). This means that participants in the present study may not have had the same level of control in their interactions as those in the Golden study and as a result did not have the positive effects of controlling the intensity of their day-to-day interactions.

The findings in this study also conflicted with Caillier (2016) who found that employees who telecommuted had higher turnover intentions than those who did not

telecommute. This finding is the opposite of the findings of Golden (2006) and Gajendran and Harrison (2007). Caillier attributed the positive relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions to teleworking interfering with work-life balance. More specifically, personal obligations can interfere more heavily with job demands when employees telecommute and teleworkers can feel more isolated from coworkers and their organization compared to those who go into the office.

The lack of consistent results on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions may be because of differences in the samples of participants. For example, in the Caillier (2016) study, only federal employees were included. In the Gajendran and Harrison (2007) study, participants from a wider variety of industries were included as they conducted a meta-analysis of 46 studies, while in the Golden (2006) study, a group of teleworkers from a technology corporation made up the sample. In contrast, the present study included participants from a wide array of backgrounds. Telecommuting may have different effects on employees with different job types in regard to organizational outcomes including turnover intentions. Future research regarding a telecommuting and turnover intentions relationship should take into account how occupation may affect the relationship.

Because there had not been any prior literature on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions that examined occupational self-efficacy as a moderator of the relationship, the present study was conducted. There are studies that have examined job-related characteristics such as leadership style and access to communication-enhancing technology as moderators of the relationship between

telecommuting and turnover intentions (Sardeshmukh et al., 2012). However, this was the first study to look at an individual characteristic as a moderator of the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions.

Recent research has shown that an individual's self-efficacy has a significant impact on organizational outcomes including turnover intentions. For example, Raghuram et al. (2003) showed that self-efficacy was positively related to telecommuter adjustment. Since higher levels of telecommuter adjustment meant that employees were able to adapt to their remote work environment more effectively, in this study it was hypothesized that higher levels of self-efficacy for employees who telecommute more frequently might be less likely to have turnover intentions. Although self-efficacy had a direct effect on telecommuter adjustment, it did not moderate the relationship involving telecommuting intensity. It is possible that although self-efficacy can allow for higher levels of telecommuter adjustment, perhaps after a few months of adapting to job demands while working remotely a majority of telecommuters may be able to effectively execute their daily job functions. As a result, occupational self-efficacy may not be as important once a telecommuter has adjusted to their daily job demands.

Additionally, turnover intentions, while related to work performance, are separate organizational outcomes and thus may have different predictor variables. Work performance is directly impacted by an individual's beliefs that they are able to perform a specific task correctly, while turnover intentions may have different predictors such as work engagement and burnout (Plooy & Roodt, 2010). The present study showed that occupational self-efficacy did not act as a significant moderator of the relationship

between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions. As mentioned before, this could be because once telecommuters have adjusted to their work environment, selfefficacy levels may not be as important in predicting turnover intentions. That being said, the finding that occupational self-efficacy was negatively related to turnover intentions means that while occupational self-efficacy levels may not be more important to those who telecommute more frequently it is still a predictor of turnover intentions.

Practical Implications

Even though the results of the study did not support the hypothesis that occupational self-efficacy would moderate the positive relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, the study's findings do have practical implications. The finding that occupational self-efficacy had a significant negative relationship with turnover intentions suggests that organizations might consider assessing self-efficacy of job applicants in the hiring process so that they can be more successful in their jobs. When evaluating applicants' self-efficacy in the hiring process, organizations may check if applicants' qualifications match the job requirements to increase chances that they will feel capable of performing their tasks correctly.

In addition to the hiring process, it may benefit organizations to embed practices that have been shown to increase an individual's self-efficacy. For example, Pekkan (2018) found that employees whose managers had gone through coaching training had higher levels of self-efficacy compared to those employees whose managers had not participated in coaching training. Investing in coaching training may benefit the organization as it may increase employees' levels of self-efficacy. Pekkan (2018) also found that

individuals with higher levels of self-efficacy set clearer goals, manage stress levels better, and took on more responsibilities.

Because this study did not find a moderation effect for occupational self-efficacy on the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, this implies that organizations may not need to emphasize hiring or developing occupational selfefficacy in those who telecommute more frequently or those who minimally telecommute. When examining how telecommuting intensity affects employees' turnover intentions, occupational self-efficacy may not need to be one of the organization's priorities. Instead, organizations can take into account employees' preferences on how frequently they would like to telecommute, assuming the job requirements allow for telecommute frequently have opportunities to connect with colleagues as telecommuters are more susceptible to feeling isolated (Schawbel, 2018). Organizations should make sure that both those who telecommute and those who do not feel engaged and connected to the organization.

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research

One strength of the present study is that it was the first to examine the moderating effect of occupational self-efficacy on the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions. Although the results of the study did not support that occupational self-efficacy had a moderating effect, future studies should seek to examine individual characteristics on the relationship between telecommuting and turnover

intentions as there is currently a gap in the literature regarding these types of studies (Sardeshmukh et al., 2012).

Another strength of this study is that participants were from a wide range of industries. Since participants in many industries were included, the results may be generalizable across industries rather than being limited to a particular profession.

Despite the several strengths of the study, this study also has several limitations. First, over 50% of participants in the study had worked at their job for less than 3 years. This means that findings may not be generalizable to employees who have worked at their job for more years. Furthermore, 72.5% of the sample was female. The lack of gender diversity in the sample may mean that the results may not be generalized across genders. Future studies should seek to have a more diverse sample in terms of both tenure and gender.

An additional weakness of this study is that it utilized a cross-sectional design. The relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions along with occupational self-efficacy's moderating effect were measured at one point in time. Utilizing a cross-sectional design also means that a causal statement cannot be made. For example, based on the results of the current study, it cannot be said that lower occupational self-efficacy levels in individuals lead to higher turnover intentions. As a result, these variables could have been affected by something that recently occurred at an employee's organization such as a promotion, manager change, or a policy decision that would affect their opinion towards the company in the short term. In the future, studies that are able to measure telecommuting intensity, turnover intentions, and self-efficacy

levels longitudinally would allow for more support regarding their relationships. For example, utilizing a longitudinal study would prevent single events like a promotion decision from greatly impacting the study as multiple responses overtime would be accumulated from each participant.

Another notable weakness of this study is that data collection occurred during COVID-19. Participants who may not be allowed to telecommute during normal times due to company policies may have been telecommuting during this time for safety purposes. This means that those who telecommuted a majority of the time when the survey was administered may not actually telecommute under normal circumstances. This could have contributed to the non-significant relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions, because employees who are currently telecommuting due to the pandemic but plan on going back into the office after may feel differently than those who plan on telecommuting long term. A future study could evaluate the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions with the moderating effect of self-efficacy once businesses reopen.

Conclusion

The goal of the current study was to evaluate the relationship between telecommuting intensity and turnover intentions. This study was also conducted to evaluate occupational self-efficacy as a moderator of the relationship. Even though occupational self-efficacy was not found to have a moderating effect, this study still contributes to the literature as it showed that occupational self-efficacy was negatively associated with turnover intentions. Additional research still needs to be done in order to

examine the relationship between how individual characteristics affect the relationship between telecommuting and turnover intentions. More follow-up studies should also be conducted in order to better understand the inconsistent results regarding telecommuting and turnover intentions relationship. As telecommuting continues to increase in popularity, more research is needed to understand the impact it has on organizational outcomes.

References

- Allen, T. D., Golden, T. D., & Shockley K. M. (2007). How effective is telecommuting? Assessing the status of our scientific findings. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest.* 16(2), 40-68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1529100615593273</u>
- Allen, D. G., Weeks, K. P., & Moffitt, K. R. (2005). Turnover intentions and voluntary turnover: The moderating roles of self-monitoring, locus of control, proactive personality, and risk aversion. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90(5), 980–990. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.5.980</u>
- Apgar M. I. (1998). The alternative workplace: Changing where and how people work. *Harvard Business Review*, 76(3), 121–136.
- Bailey, D. E., & Kurland, N. B. (2002). A review of telework research: Findings, new directions and lessons for the study of modern work. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23(4), 383–400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.144</u>
- Bandura, A. (Ed.). (1995). *Self-efficacy in changing societies*. Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511527692</u>
- Barsness, Z. Diekmann, K. & Seidel, M. L. (2005). Motivation and opportunity: The role of remote work, demographic dissimilarity, and social network centrality in impression management. *The Academy of Management Journal*, 48(3), 401-419. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.5465/AMJ.2005.17407906</u>
- Beheshti, N. (2020). Are you feeling pandemic meeting fatigue? A new Harvard business school study finds you're not alone. *Forbes*. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/nazbeheshti/2020/11/18/are-you-feeling-pandemicmeeting-fatigue-a-new-harvard-business-school-study-finds-youre-notalone/?sh=8dd4c1f1a212</u>
- Bijl, J. V., & Shortridge-Baggett, L. M. (2001). The theory and measurement of the selfefficacy construct. *Research and Theory for Nursing Practice*, 15(3), 189-207.
- Bloom, L., & Liang, J., Roberts, J., Ying, Z. J. (2014). Does working from home work? Evidence from a Chinese experiment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*. 130(1), 165-218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/qje/qju032</u>

Bloom, N. (2020). Stanford research provides a snapshot of a new working-from-home economy. <u>https://news.stanford.edu/2020/06/29/snapshot-new-working-home-</u> <u>economy/#:~:text=We%20see%20an%20incredible%2042,working%20from%20home%</u> <u>20full%2Dtime</u>

- Bogler, R., & Somech, A. (2004). Influence of teacher empowerment on teachers' organizational commitment, professional commitment and organizational citizenship behavior in schools. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 20(6), 277-289. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2004.02.003</u>
- Bothma, C.F.C., & Roodt, G. (2013). The validation of the Turnover Intention Scale. *SA Journal of Human Resource Management*, *11*(1). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4102/</u> <u>sajhrm.v11i1.507</u>
- Caillier, J. G. (2016). Does satisfaction with family-friendly programs reduce turnover? A panel study conducted in U.S. Federal agencies. *Public Personnel Management*, 45(3), 284–307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026016652424</u>
- Cao, S. (2020). Interest in Twitter, Facebook jobs surges after CEOs allow permanent work from home. *The Observer*. <u>https://observer.com/2020/05/twitter-facebook-square-job-interest-surge-permanent-remote-work</u>
- Carter, W. R., Nesbit, P. L., Badham, R. J., Parker, S. K., & Sung, L. K. (2018). The effects of employee engagement and self-efficacy on job performance: A longitudinal field study. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 29(17), 2483–2502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1244096</u>
- Casey, P. R., & Grzywacz, J. G. (2008). Employee health and well-being: The role of flexibility and work-family balance. *The Psychologist-Manager Journal*, 11(1), 31–47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10887150801963885</u>
- Cretu, R. Z., & Burcas, S. (2014). Self-efficacy: A moderator of the relation between emotional dissonance and counterproductive work behavior. *Social and Behavioral Sciences*, *127*, 892-896. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.375</u>
- de Menezes, L. M., & Kelliher, C. (2011). Flexible working and performance: A systematic review of the evidence for a business case. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, *13*(4), 452–474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2370.2011.00301.x</u>
- Diekema, D. A. (1992). Aloneness and social form. *Symbolic Interaction*, *15*(4), 481–500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/si.1992.15.4.481</u>
- Eagly, A. H., Johannesen-Schmidt, M. C., & van Engen, M. L. (2003). Transactional, transactional, and laissez-faire leadership styles: A meta-analysis comparing women and men. *Psychological Bulletin*, 129(4), 569-691. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.129.4.569

- Forrester, W. R., Tashchian, A., & Shore, T. H. (2016). Relationship between personality and behavioral intention in student teams. *American Journal of Business Education (AJBE)*, 9(3), 113-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.19030/ajbe.v9i3.969</u>
- Gajendran, R. S., & Harrison, D. A. (2007). The good, the bad, and the unknown about telecommuting: Meta-analysis of psychological mediators and individual consequences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 92(6), 1524–1541. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.92.6.1524</u>
- Global Workplace Analytics. (2018). Latest Work-at-Home/Telecommuting/Mobile Work/Remote Work Statistics. <u>https://globalworkplaceanalytics.com/telecommuting-statistics</u>
- Global Workplace Analytics (2020). Work-at-home after Covid-19-our forecast. https://globalworkplaceanalytics.com/work-at-home-after-covid-19-our-forecast
- Golden, T. D. (2006). Avoiding depletion in virtual work: Telework and the intervening impact of work exhaustion on commitment and turnover intentions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 69(1), 176–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2006.02.003</u>
- Golden, T. D., Veiga, J. F., & Dino, R. N. (2008). The impact of professional isolation on teleworker job performance and turnover intentions: Does time spent teleworking, interacting face-to-face, or having access to communication-enhancing technology matter? *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 93(6), 1412-1421. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0012722</u>
- Greenhaus, J. H., Collins, K. M., & Shaw, J. D. (2003). The relation between work-family balance and quality of life. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *63*(3), 510–531. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(02)00042-8</u>
- Guimaraes, T., & Dallow, P. (1999). Empirically testing the benefits, problems, and successes factors for telecommuting programmes. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 8(1), 40-54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000317</u>
- Guina, R. (2020). Coronavirus layoffs job losses and furloughs are even impacting 'safe' jobs. <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/ryanguina/2020/05/05/ coronavirus-layoffs-are-impacting-safe-jobs/#3855546e3e17</u>
- Gumusluoglu, L., & Ilsev, A. (2009). Transformational leadership, creativity, and organizational innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 62(4), 461-473. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2007.07.032</u>
- Harris, G. E., & Cameron, J. E. (2005). Multiple dimensions of organizational identification and commitment as predictors of turnover intentions and psychological well-being.

Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement, 37(3), 159–169. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0087253</u>

- Judge, T. A., & Bono, J. E. (2001). Relationship of core self-evaluations traits—self-esteem, generalized self-efficacy, locus of control, and emotional stability—with job satisfaction and job performance: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86(1), 80–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.86.1.80</u>
- Kossek, E. E., Lautsch, B. A., & Eaton, S. C. (2006). Telecommuting, control, and boundary management: Correlates of policy use and practice, job control, and work-family effectiveness. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 68(2), 347–367. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2005.07.002</u>
- Kost, D. (2020). Working longer and attending more meetings. *Harvard Business School*. <u>https://hbswk.hbs.edu/item/you-re-right-you-are-working-longer-and-attending-more-meetings</u>
- Kurland, N. B., & Bailey, D. E. (1999). Telework: The advantages and challenges of working here, there, anywhere, and anytime. *Organizational Dynamics*, 28(2), 53–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0090-2616(00)80016-9</u>
- Lambert, E. G., Cluse-Tolar, T., Pasupuleti, S., Prior, M., & Allen, R. I. (2012). A test of a turnover intent model. *Administration in Social Work*, 36(1), 67–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03643107.2010.551494</u>
- Locke, E. A. (1976). The nature and causes of job satisfaction. In: Dunnette, M.D., Ed., Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, *1*, 1297-1343. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2010.14038</u>
- Lunenberg, F. C. (2011). Self-efficacy in the workplace: Implications of motivation and performance, *International Journal for Motivation and Performance*, *14*(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.4236/oalib.1102419</u>
- Madden, M. & Jones, S. (2008). Networked workers. *Pew Research Center*. Retrieved from https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2008/09/24/networked-workers/
- Maxwell, G., Rankine, L., Bell, S., & MacVicar, A. (2007). The incidence and impact of FWAs in smaller businesses. *Employee Relations*, 29(2), 138-161. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.1108/01425450710719987</u>
- Martin, B. H. & MacDonnell, R. (2012). Is telework effective for organizations? A metaanalysis of empirical research on perceptions of telework and organizational outcomes. *Management Research Review*, 35(7), 602-616. <u>https://doi.org/</u> <u>10.1108/01409171211238820</u>

- McCloskey, D. W., & Igbaria, M. (2003). Does "out of sight" mean "out of mind"? An empirical investigation of the career advancement prospects of telecommuters. *Information Resources Management Journal*, 16(2), 19-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/irmj.2003040102</u>
- Mowday, R. T., Steers, R. M., & Porter, L. W. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 14(2), 224–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/0001-8791(79)90072-1
- Noonan, M., & Glass, J. L. (2012). The hard truth about telecommuting. *Monthly Labor Review*, 135(6), 38-44. <u>https://www.bls.gov/opub/mlr/2012/06/art3full.pdf</u>
- Overbey, J. A. (2013). Telecommuter intent to leave. *Leadership & Organization* Development Journal, 34(7), 680–699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2012-0004</u>
- Owl Labs (2019). State of remote work 2019. <u>https://resources.owllabs.com/state-of-remote-work/2019</u>
- Parker, K., Horowitz, J. M., & Minkin, R. (2020). How the coronavirus outbreak has and hasn't - changed the way Americans work. <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/socialtrends/2020/12/09/how-the-coronavirus-outbreak-has-and-hasnt-changed-the-wayamericans-work/</u>
- Pekkan, N. U. (2018). Is it possible to improve self-efficacy with coaching? International Journal of Eurasia Social Sciences, 9(33), 2017-2032. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328162764_IS_IT_POSSIBLE_TO_IMPROVE</u>__SELF-EFFICACY_WITH_COACHING
- Pinsonneault, A., & Boisvert, M. 2001. The impacts of telecommuting on organizations and individuals: A review of the literature. In N. J. Johnson (Ed.), *Telecommuting and virtual* offices: Issues and opportunities. 163-185. Idea Group.
- Plooy, J. D. and Roodt, B. (2010). Work engagement, burnout and related constructs as predictors of turnover intentions. SA Journal of Psychology, 36(1), 1-13. <u>https://DOI:</u> <u>10.4102/sajip.v36i1.910</u>
- Raghuram, S., Wiesenfeld, B., & Garud, R. (2003). Technology enabled work: The role of self-efficacy in determining telecommuter adjustment and structuring behavior. *Journal* of Vocational Behavior, 63(2), 180–198. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(03)00040-</u> X
- Reynolds, B. W. (2020). FlexJobs, mental health America survey: mental health in the workplace. <u>https://www.flexjobs.com/blog/post/flexjobs-mha-mental-health-workplace-pandemic</u>

- Rigotti, T., Schyns, B., & Mohr, G. (2008). A short version of the Occupational Self-Efficacy scale: Structural and construct validity across five countries. *Journal of Career Assessment*, 16(2), 238–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1069072707305763</u>
- Riley, F., & McCloskey, D. W. 1997. Telecommuting as a response to helping people balance work and family. In S. Parasuraman & J. H. Greenhaus (Eds.), *Integrating work and family: Challenges and choices for a changing world*. 133-142. Quorum.
- Ruffolo, M., Price, D., Schoultz, M., Leung, J., Bonsaksen, T., Thygesen, H., & Geirdal, A. O. (2021). Employment uncertainty and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic initial social distancing implementation: a cross national study. *Global Social Welfare 1-10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40609-020-00201-4</u>
- Sardeshmukh, S.R., Sharma, D. & Golden, T. D. (2012). Impact of telework on exhaustion and job engagement: a job demands and job resources model. *New Technology Work and Employment*, 27(3), 193-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-005X.2012.00284.x</u>
- Schawbel, D. (2018). *Back to Human: How Great Leaders Create Connection in the Age of Isolation*. Da Capo Lifelong Books.
- Shagvaliyeva, S., & Yazdanifard, R. (2014). Impact of flexible working hours on work-life balance. American Journal of Industrial and Business Management, 4(1), 20-23. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2014.41004</u>
- Tavares, A. I. (2017). Telework and health effects review. *International Journal of Healthcare*, *3*(2), 30-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/ijh.v3n2p30</u>
- Tett, R. P., & Meyer, J. P. (1993). Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, turnover intention, and turnover: Path analyses based on meta-analytic findings. *Personnel Psychology*, 46(2), 259–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6570.1993.tb00874.x</u>
- Thompson D. (2019). Workism is making Americans miserable. <u>https://www.theatlantic.com/ideas/archive/2019/02/religion-workism-making-americans-miserable/583441/</u>
- Tims, M., Bakker, A. B. & Derks, D. (2013). The impact of job crafting on job demands, job resources, and well-being. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 18(2), 230-240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032141</u>
- United States Office of Personnel Management. (2013). 2013 status of telework in the Federal Government [PDF file]. https://www.telework.gov/reportsstudies/reports-to-congress/2013reporttocongress.pdf

Appendix

Demographic Items

What is your age?

What is your current employment status?

How long have you worked in your current position?

What is your gender?

How would you best describe yourself?

Scale Items

Telecommuting

How many days a week do you telecommute?

In a typical week how many hours do you work?

In a typical week how many hours do you telecommute?

If you telecommute, please select which places you telecommute in on a regular basis. (Select all that apply).

Occupational Self-Efficacy

I can remain calm when facing difficulties in my job because I can rely on my abilities.

When I am confronted with a problem in my job, I can usually find several solutions.

Whatever comes my way in my job I can handle it.

My past experiences in my job have prepared me well for my occupational future.

I meet the goals that I set for myself in my job.

I feel prepared for most of the demands in my job.

Turnover Intentions

How often have you considered leaving your job?

How often are you frustrated when not given the opportunity at work to achieve your personal work-related goals?

How often do you dream about getting another job that will better suit your personal needs?

How often do you look forward to another day at work? *

How satisfying is your job in fulfilling your personal needs? *

How likely are you to accept another job at the same compensation level should it be offered to you?

* Indicates that an item was reverse-coded